1978

Leerco v. Boise Cascade and Sanford Corp : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF NATURE OF CASE

This is a products liability action filed by the Plaintiff-Respondent, Leerco, claiming damages as a result of using rubber cement manufactured by Defendant-Appellant, Sanford Corporation.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The case was tried to a jury before the Honorable Peter F. Leary, Third Judicial District Court Judge. At the end of the evidence, and upon all parties resting, Defendant Boise Cascade's motion for a directed verdict was granted.

Defendant Sanford Corporation also moved for a directed verdict. The trial court took the motion under advisement and submitted the case to the jury on special interrogatories. The jury returned a special verdict and two months later the Court ruled on Sanford Corporation's motion for directed verdict, denying the same. The Court also denied Sanford Corporation's motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict or, in the alternative, for a new trial.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Respondent Leerco claims it was damaged as a result of Appellant Sanford Corporation's rubber cement causing its photographic mosaics to turn yellow. Sanford Corporation claims that the evidence clearly shows that it was impossible for its cement to have caused the yellowing. that its product was free from defect, that Leerco was not damaged, and, therefore, its motions for directed verdict or for judgment notwithstanding the verdict should have been granted by the trial court. Appellant Sanford Corporation requests this Court to reverse the judgment of the lower court and to remand this case to the lower court with directions for judgment to be entered against Leerco and in behalf of Sanford Corporation, no cause of action.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Leerco, Respondent herein, is engaged in business as consulting geologists. They are involved in photo-interpretation of the earth's surface for purposes of oil and mining exploration. In this regard, they create mosaics of photographs of the earth's surface.

In early 1975, Leerco purchased, from the United States Government, negatives of photographs taken of the earth's surface by the earth satellite. (R. 415-416, 435.) From these negatives, Leerco made prints. Each print covered a tiny portion of the earth's surface. (R. 416.) Leerco took the prints and grouped them together, therein creating mosaics covering larger areas of the earth's surface. (R. 416.) The mosaics were made by cementing the individual prints onto a plastic-like base called Mylar. (R. 435,500.) They were cemented with rubber cement, and each mosaic measured approximately 3 feet by 3 feet. (R. 444.) Almost 200 mosaics were made.

Immediately after each mosaic was made, a master negative of the mosaic was obtained. (R. 437, 486-487.) Each master negative is the same size as the mosaic. (R. 487, 435-436, Ex. 8-P.)

From the master negatives of the mosaics, Leerco made prints, hundreds of which were sold to purchasers worldwide. (R. 435, 465, 487, Ex. 20-P.) Leerco fulfilled its contract with Exxon in this regard. (R. 488-489.) Leerco is the owner of the negatives and the mosaics and merely sells the prints taken from such master negatives. (R. 437, 487.) The negatives will produce as many prints as needed, as long as the negative remains in good condition. (R. 436, 487, 549.) The negatives will last for decades. (R. 603.) Leerco keeps the original mosaic for updating purposes. (R. 491.)

In January, 1975, Leerco commenced the mosaic project in question, using Best-Test brand cement. (R. 442.) Toward the end of January, having run out of Best-Test brand cement, Leerco called Pembroke's (Defendant Boise Cascade) to order more. (R. 445.) Pembroke's informed Leerco that they were out of Best-Test brand, but had another brand, Sanford's Rubber Cement, "which was just as good." (R. 447.) Leerco purchased Sanford's Rubber Cement and proceeded with the mosaics. (R. 447, 449.)

Several months later, Leerco noticed the mosaics were turning yellow. (R. 452, 535.) They immediately discontinued using Sanford's and returned to Best-Test brand. (R. 454-455.)

Leerco does not know and has no way of ascertaining how many mosaics were made with Best-Test cement before they purchased Sanford's cement. (R. 527.) Leerco has no records which would indicate which mosaic was made with which cement. (R. 528-529.)

Leerco does not know which day or week any one mosaic was made. All mosaics were made in 1975, and all were produced with either Best-Test or Sanford's cement. (R. 535-537.)

Leerco had used three and one half gallons of Sanford's Rubber Cement prior to discontinuing the same. (R. 509.) They had purchased seven gallons of Sanford's cement and 8 pints (1 gallon) of thinner. (R. 509, Ex. 16-P.) Three gallons of the rubber cement were eventually returned to Pembroke's. (R. 509.) Of some 200 mosaics created, 94 turned yellow. (R. 457.)

Sanford's Vice President in Charge of Research and Development testified that one gallon of Sanford's Rubber Cement would cover 60 to 80 square feet per gallon, depending upon how thick the cement was applied, or one gallon of rubber cement would make 7 or 8 mosaics, cemented on one surface. (R. 684.) If one coat was applied on each surface, then coverage would be less. (R. 684.) He also testified

that Sanford's thinner added to rubber cement does not change the volume, but replaces the solvent which has evaporated. (R. 712-713.)

Pembroke's (Boise Cascade) ran a test as to coverage of Sanford's Rubber Cement and found that one gallon of cement would create six mosaics, measuring 3 feet by 4 feet. (R. 707-708.)

The Sanford's Rubber Cement costs \$7.00 per gallon. (R. 507, Ex. 16-P.) Leerco purchased seven gallons (R. 509, Ex. 16-P.) and returned three gallons (R. 509) and had half of one gallon left over. (R. 509.) Leerco's president testified that each mosaic required \$1.00 worth of rubber cement to make one 3 foot by 4 foot mosaic. (R. 509.) He testified that utilizing his figures, only about 28 mosaics could have been made from the Sanford's cement. (R. 510.)

The master negatives had been made of each mosaic before the yellowing appeared. (R. 531) Leerco's president testified that the mosaics are needed for purposes of "updating." (R. 491.) He testified that the "yellow" interferes with the gray tones and, therefore, if a new master negative were ever needed, a new mosaic would have to be made. (R. 473-474, 550.) None of the mosaics have been

redone in nearly three years, although Leerco's president did hear that three or four had been done during that time. (R. 530.)

Photographic experts, Borg Anderson and Kenneth Morrison, testified that the yellowing of the mosaics creates no problems in making new negatives from the mosaics, since such yellowing can be removed by filters without affecting the quality of the photograph and without affecting the gray tones. (R. 605-606; 649.)

These same experts also testified that it was unnecessary to keep the mosaics, since updating can be done with ease utilizing the master negative. (R. 621-622; 648-649.)

These experts also testified that negatives last for many years, and that negatives 100 years old can produce prints of the same quality as when originally made. (R. 603-604.) Negatives can produce "thousands and thousands" of prints. (R. 605.)

The Sanford label on the can stated that Sanford's Rubber Cement is transparent, and will not curl, shrink, or wrinkle. (Ex. 15-).) Leerco's president testified that the rubber cement is transparent when spread out and acknowledged that in the business, a film is transparent if it can be

seen through and can be of any color. (R. 515-517.)
Leerco had no other problems with their mosaics than the yellowing. (R. 505.)

The Sanford container states its purpose for cementing paper, and speaks throughout the label only in terms of "paper." (Ex. 15-P, also see Appendix A--photographic copies of all sides of container.) The Best-Test brand container states that it may be used with photographs. (Ex. 14-P, also see Appendix B--photographic copies of all sides of Best-Test container.)

Leerco's president did not read the label on the Sanford container prior to using. (R. 513.) He testified that the label did not mention photographs, nor did it mention plastics, but mentioned only paper. (R. 513-514.) He testified that his previous brand of rubber cement, Best-Test brand, did indicate on its label its use with photographs. (R. 514.)

Leerco's process called for cementing chemically treated photographic paper to a plastic base called Mylar. (R. 435.) Photographic paper has an emulsion of silver halides and is backed with plastic backing. (R. 650, 521.) This photographic paper is put through a process containing

several chemicals during developing. (R. 649-652.) This photographic printing paper, with its chemical substances, having gone through additional chemical processes, was then applied to a plastic Mylar background. (R. 521-523; 500.) Leerco's president testified that photographic printing paper was not ordinary paper but was chemically treated, plastic coated, and that there were things you could not do with it that you could with ordinary paper. (R. 567-568.)

Leerco's president, as well as the photographic experts, testified that yellowing of photographs can be caused by improper processing during the photographic developing procedures. (R. 543, 652.) It generally is due to improper "fixing" and improper "washing." (R. 543, 652.)

Sanford Corporation has been manufacturing rubber cement since 1948. (R. 679.) They produce 100,000 to 120,000 gallons of rubber cement a year. (R. 682.) They have not changed the formula in over 30 years. (R. 679.) During this 30 years, Sanford Corporation has received only two complaints concerning discoloration, this one by Leerco, and one other subsequent complaint from the East. (R. 680.) The subsequent complaint was traced to the use of a dirty

dispenser. The rubber cement in that case was free from defect. (R. 681-682.)

Sanford Corporation chemists tested a sample of the Sanford's Rubber Cement received from Leerco. (R. 682.) The usual quality control tests were made, as well as an infrared spectrophotometer test. (R. 682.) The sample received from Leerco was found to be free from defect and found to be equal in all respects to the standards set forth in the laboratory. (R. 683.)

ARGUMENT

POINT I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING SANFORD CORPORATION'S MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT.

A. It was impossible for Sanford's Rubber Cement to have caused the yellowing of the mosaics.

Leerco created nearly 200 photographic mosaics utilizing rubber cement manufactured either by the Best-Test company or by Sanford Corporation. Of the nearly 200 mosaics, 94 mosaics turned yellow. Leerco's president admits that he does not know which mosaic was made by which rubber cement, and does not know the date each mosaic was made. He further admits that he has no record which would reveal such information.

The evidence is without contradiction that Sanford's Rubber Cement could not have been used with more than 24 mosaics. Sanford's Rubber Cement may not have been involved with any of the yellowed mosaics, but without question could not possibly have been involved with more than 24 mosaics. The 70 remaining yellowed mosaics had to have been made with Best-Test brand rubber cement. This evidence is as follows:

Leerco used only three and one half gallons of Sanford's Rubber Cement on the mosaic project. It had purchased seven gallons of Sanford's from Pembroke's and returned three gallons. It still has one half gallon.

Every single witness, including Leerco's president, testified that one gallon of Sanford's Rubber Cement would make seven mosaics. Sanford's Vice President in Charge of Research and Production testified that one gallon of Sanford's Rubber Cement would make about seven mosaics. Pembroke's (Boise Cascade) ran an experiment which proved, as they testified, that one gallon of Sanford's Rubber Cement would make six mosaics size 3 feet by 4 feet. Leerco's president, James Lindsay, testified that their costs indicated that each mosaic required one dollar's worth of rubber cement.

They paid \$7.00 per gallon for the rubber cement, which meant that they could make seven mosaics with one gallon. He admitted that based on his own figures, Sanford's Rubber Cement could only have been used on 28 mosaics (which was assuming that four gallons had been used.)

It is noted that in addition to the seven gallons of Sanford's Rubber Cement (three of which were returned) Leerco also purchased one gallon (8 pints) of thinner. Sanford Corporation's Vice President testified that the addition of thinner to rubber cement does not increase the volume, but only replaces the solvent that has evaporated. In any case, the thinner could add only one additional gallon or seven additional mosaics.

The evidence is clear that most of the yellowed mosaics (about 70) were made with Best-Test rubber cement. There is no evidence that any of the yellowed mosaics were made with Sanford's cement. As to Sanford's, the only evidence is that Sanford's Rubber Cement may possibly have been used on 24 mosaics.

There is no evidence that either Best-Test or Sanford's caused any yellowing of the mosaics. The only evidence as to causation of yellowing was in regard to

improper developing of the photographs themselves.

Sanford Corporation submits that it was error to submit this case to the jury, on this point alone. There were no questions of fact to be decided. The evidence clearly showed, without question, that Sanford's Rubber Cement was not the cause of the yellowing of the 94 mosaics.

B. There is no evidence of negligence or of proximate cause on the part of Sanford Corporation.

Leerco's president admits that he does not know which mosaic was made with which rubber cement or when. He knows only that the nearly 200 mosaics were made in 1975, utilizing either Best-Test or Sanford's Rubber Cement.

Leerco's president does admit that yellowing of photographs can occur by improper developing. This testimony was consistent with the testimony of photographic expert Kenneth Morrison, of Cartwright Aerial Photography, who testified that photographs can turn yellow because of improper "fixing" and "washing."

The only testimony and evidence in this case as to "causation" of the yellowing of the photographic mosaics was the above testimony in reference to improper developing.

There is no evidence, and there was no testimony, indicating that either Best-Test Rubber Cement or Sanford's Rubber Cement had caused the yellowing. Therefore, Leerco never established a case to be submitted to a jury.

Even if causation between the rubber cement and the yellowing had been established, Leerco would still fail in establishing a case against Sanford Corporation. The evidence indicates the rubber cement in question was free from defect. Furthermore, Leerco used the rubber cement in a process not to be contemplated by Sanford Corporation. The jury, in answering Special Verdict Interrogatory No. 8, specifically found that Sanford Corporation "did not contemplate the use to which Leerco was going to place its rubber cement." Instead of using the Sanford's Rubber Cement in cementing paper, as indicated on the label, the cement was used to cement chemically treated photographic paper, which had gone through several chemical solutions, and which contained a plastic backing, to another plastic surface, Mylar.

Leerco's president admitted that the Sanford's Rubber Cement container did not mention use of the cement with plastic, or with photographs, but that only paper was mentioned. He further admitted that the Best-Test brand

of rubber cement did specifically state on the container that it could be used with photographs.

Leerco's president admitted that photographic paper is different from ordinary paper and cannot be treated in the same manner. He admitted, and the photographic experts testified, that photographic paper is actually a sandwich wherein the paper is situated between a chemical emulsion on one side, and a plastic backing on the other side. They all admitted that this special sandwich paper was placed through several chemical substances and acids during the developing process. In Leerco's operation, this photograph, following process, was then cemented to a plastic-like substance called Mylar.

Sanford Corporation has produced rubber cement since 1948. In over 30 years, it has never changed its formula. It produces 100,000 to 120,000 gallons of rubber cement a year, which, over 30 years, would amount to more than 3,000,000 gallons. In that same time, Sanford Corporation has received no similar complaint of yellowing.

The rubber cement in question, a sample of which was received from Leerco, was fully tested in Sanford's laboratories and found to be free from defect. It was found to be consistent with the standard rubber cement kept in

Sanford Corporation's laboratories.

In Bennett v. Pilot Products Co., Inc., 120 Utah 474, 235 P.2d 525, a beautician suffered dermatitis after using a mixture of defendant's permanent wave lotion and another product--a fixative. The trial court granted a directed verdict to the manufacturer of the lotion. The Utah Supreme Court affirmed the trial court, stating:

We believe, that under the facts of this case, the trial judge strained neither common sense nor realism in concluding that appellant's ailment, being the result of an allergy, was not compensable as a matter of law. We are sympathetic with appellant and her misfortune, but cannot require the merchant to assume the role of absolute insurer against physiological idiosyncrasy. To do so also would invest the elusive ordinary prudent man with a quality of foreseeability that would take him out of character completely. Every substance, including food which is daily consumed by the public, occasionally becomes anathema to him peculiarly allergic to it. To require insurability against such an unforeseeable happenstance would weaken the structure of common sense, as well as present an unreasonable burden on the channels of trade.

The Supreme Court continued:

Counsel for appellant very ably urged that there was sufficient evidence to reach the jury on the question of

negligence. Examination of the authorities requires that we differ, and in doing so we believe that there was no evidence to go to the jury on the question of the reasonable foreseeability of danger and harm to the normal person contemplated by law. Most of the cases cited deal primarily with situations where a defect or danger was established, or where the facts showed a reasonable foreseeability that the normal person would be injured by use of a product.

The Supreme Court further stated:

We must adhere to the philosophy enunciated by the cases reflected in respondent's citations and which was put so aptly by Dean Prosser in his work on Torts, p. 679, to the effect that:
"The manufacturer is at least entitled to assume that the chattel will be put to a normal use by a normal user, and is not subject to liability where it would ordinarily be safe, but injury results from some unusual use or some personal idiosyncrasy of the consumer."
Citing Walstrom Optical Co. v. Miller,
Tex. Civ. App., 1933, 59 S.W.2d 895.

In Merrill v. Beaute Vues Corp., 235 F.2d 893 (C.A. 10 1956) a woman used defendant's product on her hair and suffered a negative reaction resulting in permanent impairment to her vision. The trial court granted a judgment in favor of the manufacturer, notwithstanding the jury verdict, which judgment was affirmed by the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals. The Court expressly found it significant

that the plaintiff's injury was the only one reported among many millions of users of the product. The Court stated:

Although there was no direct evidence tending to show that the plaintiff was allergic to defendant's product or that her injury constituted an isolated injury to an unusually susceptible individual, the undisputed evidence is that with the exception of two cases referred to in the Robson-Cameron article, the injury to plaintiff's optic nerve is the only one reported out of five hundred million users of the product. This in itself is sufficient to sustain the court's finding on this subject.

The Court continued:

We therefore have the question as to whether a manufacturer who places a product on the market, knowing that some unknown few, not in an identifiable class which could be effectively warned, may suffer allergic reactions or other isolated injuries not common to the ordinary or normal person, must respond in damages. Although there is authority to the contrary, we think the prevailing and better rule is that the injured persons in such cases cannot prevail. The reason generally given for the rule is that the injury is caused by allergy or the unusual susceptibility of the person and not the product. The essence of these decisions is that a reasonable person could not foresee the purchaser's condition and could not anticipate the harmful consequences.

The Court further stated in regard to warranty:

Neither do we think that the defendants are liable to plaintiff on an implied or express warranty. Warranties do not extend to injuries caused by peculiar idiosyncracies or physical condition of a user which are not reasonably foreseeable. The rule as to negligence in such cases applies to warranties.

In Price v. Ashby's, Inc., 11 Utah 2d 54, 354 P.2d 1064, the plaintiffs were injured in an automobile accident and sued the manufacturer of the automobile, alleging defect. The trial court held the evidence to be insufficient to establish that the alleged defect in the automobile was the probable cause of the accident. In that case, the Court stated:

With two or more possible causes such as an inattentive driver and a mechanical defect that would have made it harder to turn; proof that it may have been either is not proof that it was in fact either. No evidence indicated that either cause was the more probable.

In the case at bar, there is no evidence whatsoever of defect in the Sanford's Rubber Cement. There is no evidence, whatsoever, establishing that Sanford's Rubber Cement caused the yellowing in the photographic mosaics. The only testimony indicates that the yellowing probably was due to improper developing of the photographs themselves.

It is respectfully submitted that there were no facts to be considered by the jury, and that Sanford Corporation's motion for directed verdict should have been granted.

C. There is no evidence of breach of warranty on the part of Sanford Corporation.

Even if it could have been established that sufficient quantities of Sanford's Rubber Cement had been purchased to make the 94 mosaics, there is no evidence that the rubber cement was defective, and there is no evidence that the rubber cement caused the yellowing of the mosaics. There is no evidence of breach of warranty.

Leerco's president testified that he did not read the Sanford label before using the product. One cannot read the entire labeling on the container of the Sanford's Rubber Cement without concluding that Sanford's Rubber Cement is for cementing papers together. The Sanford container is in evidence as Exhibit 15-P, and a photocopy of each side of the container has been attached to this brief as Appendix A. It will be noted that the rubber cement is "for pasting and mounting paper." It states that this rubber cement "will not wrinkle paper." It instructs on one side of the container to "apply rubber cement to both

papers, and allow both to dry." The same side further discusses the handling of both papers in regard to this cement. The back of the can speaks only in regard to paper, and the directions on the back of the can apply only to paper. And, the back of the can indicates that the rubber cement is "a transparent, waterproof adhesive which, unlike paste and mucilage, will not curl, shrink or wrinkle even the thinnest paper."

Leerco's president admitted that photographic paper is different from ordinary paper and cannot be treated in the same manner. He admitted that photographic paper has an emulsion on one side and is backed with plastic. He admitted that during the developing process, this photographic paper is placed through several chemical and acid baths. Also, he admitted that in Leerco's operation, these photographs, following such processes, were then cemented to a plastic-like substance called Mylar.

He further testified that the Sanford's Rubber Cement was transparent when spread out and, furthermore, acknowledged that "in the business" a film is transparent if it can be seen through and can be of any color. He further acknowledged that Leerco claimed no other problems

with the mosaics other than their turning yellow.

Leerco's president admitted that the Sanford container did not prescribe its use with plastic or with photographs. He further admitted that the other brand of rubber cement, Best-Test brand, specifically indicated its use with photographs.

Even the jury found, in answer to Special Verdict Interrogatory No. 8, that "Sanford Corporation did not contemplate the use to which Leerco was going to place its rubber cement."

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