1978

Leerco v. Boise Cascade and Sanford Corp : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

For purposes of this argument, both appellant's points will be treated as one. And, though they are phrased as legal niceties, both concern one question: Did plaintiff-appellant put on a prima facie case which was sufficient to support the verdict? It did.

A. It was "possible" for Sanford's Cement to have caused the Mosaics to turn yellow. Appellant argues that this is impossible because only 3 1/2 gallons of Sanford's Cement was used by Leerco and "every single witness, including Leerco's president, testified that one gallon of Sanford's Rubber Cement would make seven mosaics." (There is no transcript reference to the asserted evidence of Leerco's president). The real basis for this argument is the testimony of Sanford's vice president that one gallon would make seven mosaic's, and

that of Pembroke's man who ran tests in which one gallon made six mosaics. Respondent asserts that if these tests and the testimony thereabout do not constitute the evidentiary equivalent of Genesis 1:1, then this argument fails in light of the jury's verdict. In fact, the tests are despositive of nothing. At T. 308-309 Francis Gilbert, of Sanford, testified that one gallon of cement covers about 60 to 80 square feet. Nothing was established as to the foundation of this assertion. At T. 333, et seq, Walter Chitty of Pembrokes states that he personally ran some tests on coverage and that on plain paper, one quart covered 1 1/2 3 x 4 sheets for 18 square feet which indicates a gallon would cover 72 square feet. Nothing was established regarding the manner of application, testure of the paper or thickness of application. On the contrary, Leerco's president, in describing a test on plaintiff's Exhibit 19, indicates the use of a squeegee to get the air and excess cement out from between the two surfaces glued together. Common sense indicates that this procedure would remove all but the thinnest of films of the cement; a far cry from dabbling it on with a brush as one would usually do. Undoubtedly, the amount of cement used would be less than 1/3 the normal amount, especially if it was thinned.

These tests proved nothing and the assertions about coverage made by plaintiff's witnesses were properly ignored by the jury. The estimate of the cost of cement for each mosaic by Mr. Lindsay does not support appellant's claim.

B. The evidence clearly established proximate cause. Lindsay testified that the first yellow mosaics were made "about when" they started using Sanford's (T.78) and that after they quit using it, the mosaics quit turning yellow. In order to test the theory of causation Leerco spread Best Test on one side of paper and Mylar and Sanford's adjacent to it. Low and behold, the product of the test, plaintiff's exhibit 19, shows that the Sanford side turned yellow and the other did not. Surely, the jury cannot be criticized for basing it's findings on causation on this utterly plain evidence.

As to the asserted violation of the label indications for the product, Mylar is an apparently inert plastic. Physical examination of the damaged mosaics makes it fairly clear that the mylar did not cause the yellow stains. However, appellant makes the argument here (at page 15) and made it to the jury, that photographic paper isn't included in the meaning of "paper" as that term is used on Sanford's label. The jury didn't buy that argument and neither should this Court. As the

special interrogatories make plain, the jury felt that if the basic property of the item to which the cement is applied is paper, the customer should have no obligation to separate among those which are dyed, have ink on them, have emulsions on the front or may be shaped like party hats in determining which they can use this cement on. The can said paper. Leerco used it on paper, and was damaged. It is entirely proper that appellant pay for the damage.

C. The case law. Not one case cited by appellant is relevant to this lawsuit because most relate to products applied to the skin, a matter where allergic people are best able to prevent the harm and have properly been saddled with the responsibility of doing so. Here, we are not involved with exotic beauty potients or things you put in your eyes. We are talking about one of the really mundane products in the world: rubber cement. It's label contains no hint that it is different from all other rubber cements or that it is unsuitable for any purpose except eating it, rubbing it on your skin or breathing it's fumes.

The only other case cited by appellant appears to have been inserted to support it's redundant and unsupported claim that the yellowing was caused by impro-

per photographic processing. As indicated, this argument is rendered absurd by exhibit 19 on which one sheet of photograph was discolored by Sanford's and not by another brand. Cause and effect are clearly established and Price v. Ashby's, Inc. is inapposite.

D. The line of cases to which this Court's attention should properly be drawn is that which establishes that jury verdicts ought not to be disturbed over quixotic arguments as those presented by appellant in it's brief here. The Court has stated the same rule in many forms. Charlton v. Hackett, 360 P.2d 176, 11 U.2d 389 (1961) holds that a jury "verdict must be sustained if 'substantially supported' by the record". In Owy-hee, Inc. v. Robbins Marco Polo, 407 P.2d 565, 17 U.2d 181 (1965), we find that an appellant from a verdict must prove that his evidence was so clear, credible and undisputed that all reasonable minds would find that his view of the facts and right to recovery has been established. Child v. Child, 332 P.2d 981, 8 U.2d 261 (1958) holds that appellant must show that there is "no reasonable basis in the evidence on which the trial court [jury] could have rationally thought that the requisite degree of proof was met."

Furthermore, on appeal the verdict is accorded

the benefit of every evidentiary and legal doubt. White v. Christensen, 550 P.2d 1289 (1976); Bezner v. Continental Dry Cleaners, Inc., 548 P.2d 898 (1976); Lee v. Howes, 548 P.2d 619 (1976); Bullock v. Ungritch, 538 P.2d 190 (1975); and Steele v. Wilkinson, 349 P.2d 1117, 10 U.2d 159 (1960). This Court took an even more adamant view when it held, in Hoggan & Hull & Higgins, Inc. v. Hall, 414 P.2d 89, 18 U.2d 3 (1966) that on an appeal from a judgment for plaintiff, the evidence favorable to plaintiff must be considered to the exclusion of contrary evidence.

These rules were succinctly stated in tandem in Marks v. Continental Casualty Co., 427 P.2d 387, 19 U.2d 119 (1967) where this Court held that a reviewing court reviews the evidence in the light most favorable to the trial court's findings and will not disturb them if there is a reasonable basis in the evidence to sustain them.

A similar rule has uniformly been held to apply to motions for directed verdict. In this case, the rule would apply both to defendant's motion for directed verdict and for judgment notwithstanding the verdict. In Rhines v. Dansie, 472 P.2d 428, 24 U.2d 375 (1970) this Court stated the following rule:

[Granting defendant's motion for dir-

ected vereict] was tantamount to granting a motion for a non-suit, and we must reverse the ruling if the evidence was such that reasonable men could arrive at a different conclusion.

Citing Merrill v. Oregon Short Line Railroad, 81 P 85, 29 U 2641. Accord, Anderson v. Gribble, 513 P.2d 432, 30 U.2d 68 (1973). About the law, therefor, there is no substantial question.

That the plaintiff-respondent met it's evidentiary burden in all respects is shown without resort to the testimony. An examination of the physical exhibits makes the facts plain. A look at Mosaic exhibits which James Lindsay testified were made by Leerco prior to the use of Sanford's cement shows that but for slight discoloration around the edges, they are without flaw. On the contrary, mosaic exhibits produced while Sanford's was in use are in various stages of discoloration. If one will (as was done by counsel before the jury and likely by the jury itself) scrape a small amount of the cement itself off the discolored exhibits, it will be plain to see that the Sanford's cement itself has discolored and discolored the photographs to which it has been applied. Similarly, such an examination will show that a reasonable man could conclude that the mylar plastic had no effect on the cement. Such examination will

also show that a reasonable man could conclude that the "yellowing" reaction occurred within the cement itself or by the relationship with the paper used in the developed photographs. From this, the jury concluded that the cement was the proximate cause of the discoloration (See special interrogatory No. 2). Special interrogatories number 3, 5 and 9 show plainly that the jury believed that respondent did not assume negligent in any way in it's use of appellant's product. Nevertheless, special interrogatory Number 8 indicates that the jury believes Leero "misused" the product by using it in a manner which could not reasonably be foreseen by appellant. The other special interrogatories plainly resolve any possible inconsistency here. Interrogatory number one (1) contains the general conclusion that Sanford was negligent. Interrogatory number seven (7) shows the jury's belief that the cement performed in a manner which breached the warranties and representations stated on the label (Appendix to appellant's brief). Read in tandem, it is plain that the jury believed that the term "transparent" thereon coupled with use of the generic and unrestricted word "paper" in describing permissible use of the product, could lead a reasonable man to conclude that he could put the cement on any

kind of paper without having it's color affected. There is certainly nothing absurd about that. Plaintiff's exhibit 19 plainly shows that the cement did not meet this warranty specification. And, though the chemical reason for the failure was not proven, the fact of the failure has been proven beyond any doubt by that exhibit.

Now, appellant focuses on respondent's failure to prove chemical causation. Such proof is not required under our law once ultimate causation has been shown as was done here by Exhibit "19". In Utah Coop. Association v. Egbert Huderli Hog Farms, 550 P.2d 196 (1976) this Court concerned itself with a claim by plaintiff that hog feed purchased from defendant had contained Salmonella bacteria which killed it's hogs. The Court first held that when defendant sold hog feed it ought to have reasonably expected it would be fed to hogs so as to saddle defendant with an implied warranty. The same rationale applies here where defendant's label said you could put the cement on paper. The hog feed wasn't restricted to Berkshires any more than this cement was restricted to use on plain white bond. "Hogs" are hogs: "paper" is paper (including photographic paper). Second, the Court held that the evidence of the source of the infection didn't have to be proven to an absolute certainty

so long as plaintiff adduced "substantial evidence" to support the "likelihood" that the infection came from the feed. Similarly, in this case, though plaintiff did not prove the exact chemical cause of the discoloration, the physical exhibits plainly show that the cement is the "source" of the problem.

The issue of "causation" was also addressed in Christopher v. Larsen Ford, 557 P.2d 1009 (1976). There, the warranty relied on was a general statement by a retailer of Mobile homes that the vehicle was fit for it's intended use. After having disposed of seller-appellant's warranty arguments this court turned it's attention to the seller's claim that plaintiff had failed to show that defects cognizable under the warranty had caused the performance deficiencies of which plaintiff complained. Plaintiff had called an expert who stated his assessments of the defects and stated that they were the reasons the vehicle wasn't fit for it's intended use. In affirming the judgment, this Court simply said:

...Notwithstanding the defendant's contentions with respect thereto, the testimony of Mr. Haslam concerning the defects in the motor home, coupled with his opinion that because of those defects the vehicle did not meet the just stated requirement [that the motor home be fit for the "usual and ordinary purpose it's intended use],


provided a sufficient basis to justify permitting the jury to pass on that issue.

In the instant case, the jury had appellant's statements about it's product in evidence (Appendix to appellant's brief). It found the statements to contain a warranty. A substantial portion of Mr. Lindsay's testimony constitutes his opinion that the Sanford's cement caused the discoloration (T. 75-76, 79, 83-86, 350-1). Under the ruling in Christopher, supra, that is enough to take the issue to the jury. The jury believed the overwhelming persuasive evidence, both physical and testimonial, adduced by plaintiff-respondent. It disbelieved the inconsistent, speculative and often plainly irrelevant proofs of defendant-appellant. It thoughtfully answered special interrogatories which specify the entirely proper basis of it's verdict in detail. That is all the law requires.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated, plaintiff-respondent respectfully prays the Court to affirm the jury's verdict and the judgment rendered thereon.